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SUMMARY

This statement o significarce was commissioneddm Marion Barter AssoatesLtd
in 2019 by Dominic Robrts of Francis Robertrchiteds on behalf ofthe PCC of St
Mary@ Church Cartmel Its purpose is tanform discussions aboute-ordering part
the interior and a potential north addition to the kuilding The chuch is a Grade |
listed building The Faclty Jurisdiction Rules 2013 defireestatement of significance
as

Gl R2 O0dzy Sy libesai significanReSofitlad hurch or othewilding in
terms of its special a&hitectural and historic interds (includng any
contribution made by its seaing) and any significant features of artistic or
archaeological interest that the church or otheuilding has so as to enable
the potential impmact of the proposals on its sigitiédnce, and on any such
features to be nnderstood®@

Section 1 provides a summary fothe history of the priory churchreferring to
primary and secondary sources and to the fabric of thalding An Augustinian
priory was founded at Cartmelby William Mashall, Earl of Pembrok in c1189.

Primary phase fabriédrom the first building campagn (c11891219)has survived in
the choir, the crossingPiper Choiand tran®pts, where the architecturalfeatures
are typical ofthe transition from RomanesquentEaty Gothi¢Early Eglish The

nave,upper stage bthe tower, north and south aisleshe Town Cloir, grea east

window and other windowsare part of latergothic pre-Dissolution phases.There is
an unsubstatiated theory that the toister was moved fron the south to thenorth

sometime before thesouth asle wasbuilt or rebuiltin the earlyl5" century. The

blind north wall of the northaisle and the rough corbels oits outer notth face

indicate a former buildng against the north side of the church, biis date of
construction and denolition is notrecorded in swiving documentary soues The

priory wasclosed at the Dissolution, in 153 and local people acgired the church

for useastheir parish churchwhich effectively saved the buildg frombecoming a
ruin and peservedthe choir stdlk. The east windowretains sane medieval glas

although glass datig from the 1480s and degting a prior of Camel is at St

Martin@®, Bownesson-Windermere

Cartme Priory Statement ofignificance2020



In 1617-1622, substantialrepairs were carried ouvith funds fromGeorg Preston,
the owner d the HolkerHall estateincludingre-roofing, new plaster ceilinggandthe
fine choir screen andRenaissancstyle canopies over the earliertwir stdls. The14™"
century Harington monument was relocated to the wall between the Town Choir
and the chancel around thé time. The ®uth porchwas rebuil in 1625. The vestry
was built ove a crypt in1677, and later helthe library donatel by ThomasPreston
Unfortunately, here are large gas in the documentary records particularly for
much of the medieval period (there is no surviving caittry) and for the 18"
century. There are ro images of thechurchexterior or interior until the late 18" or
early 19thcentury, apart from onel 7" centurydrawing of the Harington tomtEarly
19" centuryimagesshow the interiorbefore the Paleyrestoration, whenthere were
galleriesin the north tranept, the naveQ rubblestonewallswere plastered and the
nave was lagely without seating apart frortowardsthe crossingvhere there were
box pewsand a tripe decker pulpit an irterior typical ofthe Georgianperiod.

Same repairs were caied aut in the 1830s and in1850when a timber ceiing was
instaled in the crossinggy Webster, but the most substantial restoration and repairs
were undertaken from the latd850s, under E.Baley. Thefirst phase of this wik
entailed removing 17" century plaster ceilings to expose the roof structurin the
choir, nave and tansepts, followed by work in the 1860s to remove thgalleriesand
install new seating and fittingscluding afont, pulgt, pipe organ (by Jardinein the
Town Choilrandnew stained glaswindows Thelearntto addition (narthex)between
the west buttressesnow used for WQ@, kitchen, stores,workshop andboiler room

is part of the Paleyestorationphase

Thechurchis described in Section Jhearchitedure and structure of the church is
briefly described followed by sections on thfittings and memorials The arrent
arrangement of the naverelates to thel867 re-orderingby Raley, modifiedin 2018
by Dominic Robes Thestonefont is in apostion similar to where it stood before
the Paley restorationThe Town Choihas been alteed many times;as a chantry
chapel itcontained the fine Harringon tomb of c1347, before this wagelocatedto
the north wall in the early 11 century. Theformer chapd contains the pipe organ
built in 1969 In the choir, he principal fextures are thefine carved screens andtall
canopies provided by Geordgereston,and the 1% century stalls. Thesanctuary
fittings include the gilded reredos and altar 0933 The pulgt in the crossing was
designed by Palgyalong with the square font, now in the southisle The church
contains numerous walhounted memorials, mainly fron the 18" and eary 19"
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century with a few of earlier date Therubblestone north wall othe north aisle is

windowless it is not possible to assign a date to its construction frora thsual
evidence and thereare no documentaryrecords thatexplainits present form and
appeaance.On the irernal face is fixedn important painted board recording the

life andwork of GeorgePreston(died 1640) Cavedishand Lowthethatchmentsand

towards the wes end isa large alabaser monument to Lo FrederickCavendish
(died 1882) With the exception of medieval glass in th&per Choir, the east
windows of the choir and the Town Choistainedglassin the chuch is mairly late

19" century, with some good glass by Shrigley and Hunt

Section 4 coverssignificanceThe churchas awhole hasvery high signficance for
archaeologicalarchitectural, historic, artisticand communévalue Thechurchis a
fine example of alate 12" century priory church canbining Romanesque and Early
Gothic architecture vth important elements ofater gothicarchitecturedating from
the mid 14" century (Tevn Choir)andthe 15" century (nave andwindows) Simon
Jenkinganks itamong the bp 100churches in England, one of only twoGambria
(the other is SarahdshQ early Victorian church a¥reay). According to Hyde and
Pevsner, he church is the best preservddrmer monasticchurch in CumbriaThe
research into thehistory of the interior and fittings enables a assessment of
signficance forthe fittings, sunmarised in a table

The setting d the churchincludesthe village ofCartme] which is aconservation
areg, includingthe fields to he east north and south of the church Due to the

church®@ great scale, the towerand roofs can be &n from a distance outsidéhe

village, particularly on thapproachfrom the northreastand south The church ighe

mostimportant landmak in the vallg. The urial graund is managetty the PCGind

there ispublic access via footpathBom the north andsouth-west entrances The
burial gound retains alarge collection of standingmemorial stonesand tombs,
some of which are separately list. The burial gound contributes to the high

significanceof the church, and is importanfor aeshetic, historicand archaeological
values.

Thereis high achaeolagical potential to reveal more informatioabout the priory
cloister buildings surprisingly, no formal excavationsr norrinvasive sweys
condwted by an archaeologt have ekenplacewithin the burial growmd apart from
minor watching briefs fo service trencks Due to the lack of medieval records
about the priory and the loss of related cloisters artley precirct buildings, there
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are somesignificarn knowledge gapdor CartmelPriory. In particular, the form and
phasingof the cloistersin relation to the nave and aisless not understood It is
recommended thafurther studies surveys and trial trenchdse undertaken, when
resour@s allowframed by a series gésearchquestions.

Alterations to the church are exempt fromlisted bulding consent,under the

Ecclesiatical ExemptionOrder 2010; instead a Facultyis required before changes
can be mad (Faculty JurisdictionuRes 2A.8). A Facultyapplication is decied by the
Chareellor of the Docese, usuallpn the advce of he Diocesn Advisory Comittee

(DAC) The DAQor the Dioceseof Carlisle has adady viged the church to offer
advice on the proposal for new kitchen and tei facilities A statement of
significanceis one of the key documentsneedead to support a Faculty agipation,

alongside a statenent of need prepared to demongate the case for makimp

changesThis report will help to inform discussions abguovidingthe new facilities
neededto ensue thelongterm vitality of thisimportant church

It is recommended that a copy of this repastdepositedn a public archivesothat

the informaton isaccessiblelt will be uploaded to theonline Archaeological Dat
Service via Historic EnglaB@ASISvebsite.
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1 INTRODUCON

1.1Background to the Report

Thisstatementof significancavascommissionedrom Marion BarterAs®dates Ltd
in 2019 by Dominic Robert®f Francis Robertérchitectson behalf ofthe PC®f St
Mary@ Church, Cartmel

The chuchis aGrade listed kuilding, located within Cartmel Conservation Area.

The Faculty pocess requies the significanceof a church to be assesed and
describedwhen changes are propasd. It is good practice to wertake a sigificance
assessmentbefore proposls are developedor re-ordering or alterations. This
report broadly follows theonline guidan@ produced by the Chrch of Endand in
Jaruary2014

1.2 Purpose othe Report

TheNB LJ2 NIl Q& LJdzNXh2 sighifiehce of ine church @aicularly d the
interior and fittings, to inform discussions abow future re-ordering and dher
changedo the building.Thereport will be used o contribute to the Facultyprocess
and isfor the use of thePQC, thar architect and the DACThe repat will coverthe
following keyissies:

A summary of the histgrandkey phasesof the church

A statement ofsignificancecoverngthe buildingand al fittings,

Summary of the archaealgical potential fothe site,

Commaent on the contribution male by tre setting to he significanceof the
church.

= =4 =4 A
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for any loss bdamage arising from anynauhorised use othis report.
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2 HISTORY &ONTEK

2.1 Background History
2.1.1 Introduction
Despite itsconsiderable age and historiimportance Cartnel Priory Church has seen

relatively limited investigation, especially in terms of a professional assessment of
the higoric fabric or the athaeology of the site. The earliestcountswere madein

a spirit of antiquarianism (Stockdale 1872;dgg 1879), through an interesin
architecural history (eg Sir Stephen Glymm 1833 (Butler 2011, 461); Petit 1870;

Paley 1872)pr as part ofmore generallocal historybookson Cartmel (Wakefield

1909; Anon 1915)it was notdzy G A f W2 Ky &tho®igh goasiigfalicn, Y 2 NJ
published m 1945 @n abbreviatal version was published earlier; Dickinson 1933),

that any detailed dicussion of the pha Ay 3 2F (KS OKdadOKQa
presented. Since thethere have numerous brief accounts $ history published as
guidebooks ég Wdls nd; Dykes and Hardwick nd; Rothwell 2000) &wél histories

(Taylor 1955). Nevtheless, the most usef and most detailed publications
regarding the priory remai thoseproduced by Dickinson, althgh it s not always

clear how he camé& same of his conclusions.

2.12 Early @ristian activity
The origins of a Christian communityCartmel and the wide€artmel Peninsula are

obscure. What is undoubted is that éfe was a British population in Carin
following the demise of the RomanYELJA NeBnfdl over the area, as they are
referredto in a grant made by the Northumbrian KinggEith to St Cuthbert bland
in Cartmel; historically this was translated as hgvimcluded the British population,
i.e. thatthe natives were given as chatls (Cowe 1984, 63), but more recently this
has ben reinterpreted as referring to the grant img been made by Ecdfriand
the Britons that were in Cartmel, suggesting that rinevas a recognised native
aristocragy in the areanegotiating with the Nathumbrians (Edmonds 2013, 20).
Whether tha means there was an existing British church estatéiwithe block of
land that was presented as part of this grant is difficult to say.

It is also recorded that the Northumianst2 2 { O2 Yy iU NB f @ FO EsiaNISKNT f
the late 8" century and thatthose that did not accept the findings of the Synod of
Whitby in 663 withdrewto Strathclyde or Ireland (Crowe 1984, 64). It has alsabee
argued that the region granted ta Euthkert might have corresponded tblougun,

which is recorded in the Domesdayr&ey of 1086 and may have had much earlier
origins (BBworth 2018, 907). Noecclegplacenames are recorded in the immediate
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vicinity d Cartmel itself, which would poteraily indicate the presence of a Brilis
church or at least land held or contrelll by them (Elsworth 2011), although there is
'y 4siCROK Sa S| R2 ¢m@h, whith niight2l@ isignificant in this regard
(Stockdale 182, 125). Nevertheless placemes inlicating the presence of Britons
are found inthe region, such as Walton, whiclerives from an Angk$axon word
wealas applied to natie Britons, possibly esgially those that thought of
themselves as Romans (Woolf12) 231232).

2.13 Pre-monastic chuch inCartmel
Of potential interestn underganding the origins of the church in Cartmel are other

local placenames, which indicate he presence of a churchKirkhead, near

Allithwaite, demonstrates that when Norsetlers arrived in the area in the ¥0

century there was a church already exisence, or, more implausibly, that they

constructed a church when $12 | NNA OGS R A NJ K512 ¥ QY S RUNBY A NJ
also recorded nearby (Crowe 1984, 65), but there iscedainty that a church

existed in he areaaround Kirkhead and, likeccks placenames, the elemenkirk

could just refer to land controlled by ahurch. However, Stockda records a

Yadition that there was a chapel near Kirkhead and Abbot Kabmeremains of

which, even graves, it isaid, existed in the last centu§y togkidale 1872, 505).

Crowe also suggests that the place namedhsrchebd YS I y Ay 3 UYSAXdzZNGK O A
the Domesday s@S& O2NNBalLlR2yRa gA0GK /FNIYSE> airyc
| KdZNOKG26y Q Ay B, @tEdgh this Odrddian is byotneans

definite.

Complicating the issue further is the story regardinge tfoundation of the
Augustinian priory; accorahg to a legend, first printed in 1821 (Atkins 1821), the
monks came into Cartmel looking for dape fa their new priory and found a
suitabk hill. Having marked out the site for building a voice spoke to thenmngay
Mot there, bt in a valley betweenwo rivers, where the one runs north, and the
other sout2 dnabje to imagine such a place theyga®m seaching across the north
of Enghnd, bu finding nothing matching this description they returned to the
original hill. In doing sahey crossed a vallewhere they found a stream running
north and another runningouth, as predicted, and between thethey huilt their
priory. They also bli a dhapel on the original hill dedicated to St Bernard, which
retains tre name Wa 2 dzy' (i .. FeoEkleds PN the spelation about the
possibility ofearly churches being on €ifent sites, the fact that the 2 century
priory church waslsoused asa pari$ church (see belowpakes it entirely plausible
that the priory wasdeliberatelylocatedon the site of an eadir church. This would

Cartme Priory Statement ofignificance2020 10



be more in keeping with other sites,here continuous use of the same sieas
relatively common, although thissinormaly only evident through archaeological
excavation.The Augustinianpriory foundedat Calislein 1122incorporated aparish
church on or near the site othe 8" century maastery(Weston 2000, pp910). St
MicK | SG@h@eéh Workingtoris another eample (Zant and Parsons 2019 vidence
for a churchexising at Cartmel bedre the establishmenof the priorycomes fran
referencesin 1135to Willelmus, clerk of Cartmel, and 1155 to Uccheman, parson
of Cartmel $tockdile 1872, ). It is also inteesting © note that study of the
geology of the site has ncluded that the priory iuilt on anisland of glacial dels
in a postglacial lake (Mitchell 1990, 44 and figure 2 mage 48); this would have
beenanidallod G A2y F2NJ Iy fSi-ANGEREMCOASHRYA vihigH: viere WO S
often on isolat& spots such as islands or peninsulas (see Hsal871, 117).

2.14 Priory foundation
The priory of St Mary the Virgin in Cartinwas established in 1188 (or at l¢dsy

1190)by an order of Augustinia@anons tirough the patronage of William Marshall,
later earl of PembrokgFarrer and Brownbill 1181, 259; Dickinson 194%1). The
mother priory was Bradenstoke in Wiltshire, whickent a group of canons to
Cartmel, ahough from the start Cartmel was irgpendent (Farrer and Brownbill
1914, Vol.2, 143). It is apparent that thew priory at least invked the memory of
an ealier church, dedicated t&t Michael, as the parish churchdits chapels were
referred to in the orignal foundation; an altar to S¥lichaelwas reserved for the use
of parishioners and this dedication camtied until after the Bisolution (Farrer and
Brownbill 1914, 259). The pahioners continued to make usé the church after the
establishmentof the priory, with the Town Choir,rothe souh side of thechance)
reputed to havesened them (Dickinson 1945, 6d5), however the wed part of the
navewould have beera more usualareain a priory churchor the local community
to use(asat Carlist) and from the 1340s the soutthapd was a bantry chapel

Important fabric from te primary phase of construction, which continued into the
early 13" certury (up until the death of WillianMarshall in 1219)remairs, primarily
in the chancel,north and south transeps, Fiper Choirand crossing(see Fig.1). This
fabric, with mainlypointed archesis characteristic of the stylasuallyreferred to as
EarlyEngishalthough it & earlyGothic derived fromFrance The fabric of the churh
shows that theprimary phasesanctuaryprojected one bay eastf the east eds of
the originalnorth and south chaps, so thatthe sanctuary was lit by north and south
lancet windows The nave may not have been built by 1283 thequality ashlar
work stops juswithin the east end of the naveTheevidence fo missing claustral
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buildingsat the churchare blocked @orways inboth the north and south transpts

(that led to upper floor roomk a book recess on the west side of the gotransept
and corlelson the west face of thetranseptsthat carrieda cloisterroof. There is no
documentaryor archaeologicakvidence to date the building of the cloisteos to

indicatetheir form and extent.

2.15 Medieval development

The priory clarch continuedto be built or remodelked inat leag two phasesduring

the later medeval peiod, but the lack of daementary records for this period
hampes an accurateinterpretation; the physicalfabric of the buildng and its
archaeology is therefore raimportant souce d evidence for ths period. The
architecture of the church expresegphases ofnajor investmentwhere featuresare

readiy dateable. In the mid 14" centurythe chapelsouth ofthe chancelwasrebuilt

and enlargd (Dickinson 1945; Dhinson 1991, 4p to createthe Harington chantry

(John Hangton died 1347), with new windows of flowingDecoratedGothictracery.

The elaboratetomb ard its altar probably occupiedthe southwest cornerof the

chapel(roughlywherethe organ is now)

12™ Century
14™Century
1s™Century
mCentury

] 1y
[:' Modern

North _
Transept 3 Y
b 5 M ] \\\"\l

il

North Aisle

el - n )
[ — — ‘ .|

South Aisle

= == F ‘ o
= = A |Goel | | et %
]| Porch | - — e T
| l\llé[/l ===
il il e sl G SR . . ol /
Scale of feet | z,ggzz'-—'g_{gl N {//

v o

Fig.1: undéed phasing plan of the clmeh (Historic Edgnd Archive)
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More substantal work to the churchtook place in the 1% century; the building (or
rebuilding of the navewith 3-bay arcades, clerestoresand aisles. The chancel was
refurbished with avast new easwindow in c1420and snaller Perperdicular Gothic
windows were alsanstdled in the transepts and Rper Choir, in placeof the earlier
lancet windavs. The top stage of the toweand the choir clerestorys also of this
period.

Therebuilding of thenavewith new south windowsartly supports the theory that
the priory urderwent substantial reorganisatiorin the 14" century, when it is
suggested thatthe cloisterwasmoved from its originalsouth location to the north.
The first printed versia of this inerpretation, identified for this study is in an article
publishedin The Buildein 1899 (Anon 189%ee CAC(HDX/8281/3/88 1899); this
was later repeated by Farrer and Brownbil®{4, 259) and then b€urwen (1920,
111), but the most extensive dis@ien was by Dickinson(1945, 5766). The
evidence for thigheoryis a combination of the known digstion in thewider region
during this period brought about by the Scottish raiderresponding documentary
evidencethat by 1391 the church was instate of decay and architural evidence
within the building The latte is not conclusiveand includes primary phasefeatures
on the southtranseptfor a cloister (upper floor blocked doaway, book recessand
corbels for the cloister rogf the presence of thel5" century south aisle whdows
which indicate that by this daé there was no cloister here artie doorway cut
through a lancet inthe north transept north waland a row ofrough corbelon the
blind north side of the navethought to havesuppored the roof of a later north
cloister (Dickinson 1945However, the form and mouldingsof the arched doorway
on the north trangpt suggests it may be pnary phasesuggesting thathere may
have been zstoreybuildingsprojecting to north and south in the same phase.

It has al® been suggested that the gund on whit the original south cloister was

built might have been subject to subsime, which regired the cloister tobe

moved 6p cit 63). This has beanvesigated more recently with Mitchell suggesting

that the priorya f 2 Ol 0 SR 2sgndylglacialielris hicR is Bndwn ¥ be

more than 8 feet deep in plad®s & A pdstihlgcialllake(1990, 45) but thisdoes

not prove that the south cloister hatb be taken down Notwithstanding these
argumentsfor the theoty, the evidencefor it is not robust and hasnot beentested

by anydetailed, modern examination of the fabyinorany archaeolgicalevaluation

of below-groundmaterial Indeed, earlierasowy Ga 2F GKS OKdzNOKQA
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the same evidence withirhe buiding but concluded tht the featueson the south

AARS 2F (KS OKdzZNOK NBf I (i Stat wadntehdedidroé LIG S NI K 2
continued southward, but was never erect@d 6yt1872, 5) while on the north side

2T GKS rbjestthg thrdaghstoes indicate that avooden penthousS X

extended from some buildings lying westwardthe north doorwaRop @it, 5-6).

2.16 The Dissolution ad its immediate aftermath
Duringthe Dissolutiorthe valueof all monastic housesvasassesse@nd vistations

took place, on the order of Henry Wih 1535Cartmelwasfound to have a value of
£91 6s 3d (DickinsalB91, 3334). Since it was itally the smallest houses that were
most threatened by closte under the Frst Act of SuppressiorGartmel preoested
and a more detailed survey was carriedt in 1536 revaluing itat £212 12s 10%d
(op cit, 34). Despite thighe closure of the priory went ahead 1L537, although for a
shat time the canons at Canel were ranstated following the Pgrimage of Gce
in 15361537, the Northern revolt against K S / shi&cigigh Qaer and Brownbill
Vol.2, 143148). In 1540the site of the priory was granted to ThomBelcroft (op
cit). At Carmel, the parishiones purchasedhe whole church (Dickinsof991, 33
23), a pattern that also occurred at some othéown cente priories such as
Malvern; this is likely to have redudethe damage caused, for example by the
complete removal of led from the rod (op cit, 36-37). However, vaous accounts
suggest that it wapartially unroofed and allowed to fall intastepair fo perhaps as
long & 83 years (egCooper 1899, 223)no spedic evidence is given for this apart
from an account in 1873, which séat that the effect ® being unpofed Wre still
visible in the dcayed state of certain portions of the wesark in the Goir from
exposureto the weatheQ oK) WPR/89/4/2/12 1873957) The very weathered
condition of thechoir stalsGimber may supprt this.

Fortunatdy for Carmel alarge ¢ NI 2 T  ({ d6tdtes vaidAcauligdl DA the
Preston family ofFurnessin the 16" century, whose descendants, th€averdish
family, still own Holker. The 1@6 Preston board in the north aisle records that the
church was ingreat decay@before GeorgePreston carried out repairs but it has
been suggested thahe sum was spentwasnot so largeasto indicate that there
was extensive damage to remedRi¢kinson 199137-40). Therest of the priory
buildingswere amost entirely demolishedafter the Dissolutionthe main eception

is the gatehouse, to the west of ehchurch, and parts of the preaih wall to the
north, although nore substantial elements of the latter were clearly still standing
into the mid-19" century plan in Appendix Z=foliot 1854). Inaddition, more ecent
investigationhas revealed that substantial amounts of dreval fabric survive in
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other buldings around he village(Greelane Archaeology 2013a; 2013b) and, as
{G201RFHES &l AR 27 Hd#f $e DINDIEMBEL had\bigenbuilt f A1 St &
out of stones takefromtheserun® o/ !/ 6. 0 5 DFIBMWI). K HKMKC MYy C

Accouns of repairs to the churchat the endof the 16" century and into the 1%
century survive in the Church Book, which was saved by Jamesd&®dd
partially transcribel by him; the releant extracts from this are reproduced fable
1 below. These lsow afairly continual process of repajrparticularly to the roofs,
with a more substantial programmaf re-roofing carried out by the Presh familyin
about 1618 (Dickinson suggests it was bedwel6171622; 1991, 37. Riggeys
16181623, ad notes trat thS Yy Sé NR2F 4| a ad the weathdr2 6 SNJ LJA
mouldings on the outside walls shOw 6 my Preptbn@ warklsdzferredto on the
Prestonmemarial boarddated 1646in the north aislewhich statesthat he "ddomed
the Chancell with curiaus carved woodwork&Qthe choir screens and canopigghis
andthe ceiling plastework of the same perioa@re not listedin Stockdal@® account,
summarisedbelow. The relocation of the Harington tomiat this time is also not
documented, but it is thought to have been moved into its presewssigon by
Preston the earliest drawinglated 1646 now in the Bodleian Libraryappears to
show it in the curent locaion (Cameron, [dte 16)

Year | Item Souce
1597 | Ylastening andmendinge ofl f f 2 T U K| Stockdale 1872, 37
YSFYRAY3IS 27F I ff 0KS

roughcastnge all about 5 f S| Riigka n¥w
rowfe over the regstrieQ

1598 | Bringing 12 tonnes focoal to burn for mking Ime | Stockdale 1872, 3§
anR 0 KVElyhg tHe reved® X (upp afyfr@| 39

leade of the west rooge and to level the same, to b
water out of the same atthe roofe § R Xclatiige
anew agayne ofhe same roof@

1599 | Hclatt the roofe over the [dgibldQ Siockdale 187240

1613 | Worke betwees the churche doors (south aisle of { Stockdalel872, 47
VI @Sy LISNKLI LAV X (eihde At ftha
rood] anewe n lyme and sand@

1615 | Wmendinge ye leadeand roufe over allhat quiere| Stockdale 1872, 47
adjoynirge to ye Pis NJ v dzA SdWi§ Xe gMise| 48
GAYR2B¥R fA1SoAaS (KS
NRddzZFSX |yR (02 | ¥3&¥iRIt K
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and mendeigeyef S| RSa 2 @ 8i&dQe S

1618 | Wvo twentie markecastes shall be celtted by the| Stockdale 1872, 49
churchwarderét X 0 2 6 hlRpayeingé and | 50
satisfyeinge of Mr Preston for the bargaine made W
him for the two pufes and the € S LJt S Xestan
shall build upp and mee annewe the sowthe rouf
over the Piche (Parish) Quie and the other rdig over
the Ladie (Lady) @ere and 5 LJ& pa®) Ndiet€L A

1625 | thakeing the porche conveniente the same plac¢ Stockale 1872, 57
where formerlyeit was, viz., the wallo be raysed upy
at the west syde, and a new roufe lbe made over it
andfree-stone dore (doorwaywith an ardheQ

1635 | the free masons shallagge the church anewe whe| Stockdag¢ 1872, 62
need is with stoneQ

1645 | Wawrence Bainson shall maintayne and uphold { Stockdalel872, 81
the glasse windwes, except those the dhancelQ

Table 1: Extracts from the Cartmel Church Book relating to attens to the burch

It is nd known exactly when the gallerieswere added although the addition of
galeries (normally at thewestend)was usual in paish churclesduringthe 18" and

early 19" centuries. The galleriesvere removedas part of thePaley and Austin
restoration in 1864-73. Rigge states thathe galleres were addd after the roof
repairs ofcl1620 and describes tme as omprish y A Yarge'Bne across the north
transept, another called the dark gallery across the north aisle of the nave, a smaller
one inthe east cornenf the south transept pposte the clock galley in its west
correr, and an ogan with its galleryoverthe rood-scree2 1840, 5). Glynne suggests

G K I O frightfuSstudeo ceilin@ ¢+ & | RRSR Ay wmtnann 6. dzif SNJ
incorrect as the $tetted PlaisterWorkeCxeiings were part of theearly 7" century
George Prestowork, as recordedn the 1646 Prestonboard.
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2.17 The late 17 to early 19" certuries

Kertmele Priory, Lancallure

Hg.2: ergraving dated 1784, by S Hoop&ATK), Ref BV/L/F/120/1¢ 17721932)

There is relatively ttle record of alterations br over 200 yea after the
improvements made by the Preston family. k677 the current vestry was
constructed(Taylor 1959) in place of the old sacrist§pllowing a bequest by William
Robinson of Newby Brig of £40 this compriseda lofty extenson over a basement,
matching theheight d the Town Choir to the souththisreinstated symmetry to the
east end of the church (kimson 1991, 88). It also reused some earlier material
including a window with its eadr staned glassandlater held a collection okarly
booksgivento the chuch byThomas Prestom his will(he diedin 1697).

Remarkablythere is seemingly no recd of any wak carried out at the church in

the 18" certury, although it is perhaps noteworthy that in 1852 thechive relating

to Cartmelwas described abavingd S Srydelyand cruelly detlwith; fire & the

sword have at vaous times done much miseh among them & few of great

antiquity or value have e preserve@ 6/ ! / 6 YU 2t WIRBSR)PK MK T K P MY N |

It is not until the 19" century thatextant recordsbecome nore detailed, in part
becauseof the extensiveepairs and restoratiorcarried outin the scondhalf of the
century (seeSection 2.1.%elow); a sumrary of repairs with adetailedaccount of
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expenditure from 1864, was published in 1873 by Rev Hubersty (CAC(K)
WPR/89/4/2/12 18731957) The need for wak to the buildng by the early 19

centurywas dearlyurgent, given the descriptiod @ 5 NJ 2 KA  Inith&NdeAy My my
Church, after the lapse of negritwo centuries,another Preston begins to le

wantedX (i K S NBppeardnce lof/sontethg between aCathedral and a ruin.

Damp flors, green whs, and rotting beams, shelter just suffent for owls and bats,

and light augmented by broken panes, are cartimg links between the highnd

finished reair ofthe one, and tk total abandonmenbf the othefXWhitaker 1818,

5). A numberof minor repars were evdently carried out in the 182) with a Robert

Webster (part of the architect family of Kendal; seé MJi A y H n nfreesonéJ- AR F2 N
repairs to he westwindowQ A Y, and yorumspeciéid work in 183 (Tyson 1993,

11). A much loger list of equired repdrs, made by the Bishop of Giter, was also

produced in 1821, with relevant items including:

Whe kad of the tower to be repegd, & the insid to berough cast.

The covering of ye Ré & Aisles @ be examined & thoroughly repad where
wanting.

TheArea of ye church to be madevel, & the whole rélagged, where ye flags are
broken, or bad.

The woden frame for ye clock tee removed out foye chuich.
The churh yard wall to be xamined, & rpaired where necessary.

The ogan to be remved b ye vest end & it is strongly recomSY RSRX (K2 Q vy 2
ordered by the Bishop, that when ye flagging is takpnthe pulpit & reading dé&s

be brot[sid near thecommunion rag & the Pews be caed down eiber near the

font, or along eal transeptQQCAC(KWPRB9/4/3/3 1821-1822).

Other irteresting comments include preventing cattle from grazing in the
churck® I NRZ | ay &®vedirfriegting ¥ be cy 4 A Rvé&tieiRall tre paths,
except ongmight not k& stopped up, as ye church yardd  NBvgrnRdSgka@ il by
people loitering abou& playing in it & doing mischief to W window @did). A
separate nte of the same date also add

¥he Glassiiye wirdows of ye chunh, in many of thepmwants repaiing.

The top of ye Tower ireychurch, noto bewhitewashed.
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The Earth to be remed from ye outside walls of ye church, & a Drain of open slate
or stone made adjoining to them, afar as is practiable, ® as to carry t all
drippings ofwater into ye common Drain.

No Burials tadbe made withat or within ye church except at ye distam of a yard
from ye walls or pillaQibid).

ltis clearthatnotdl 2F (KS . A fefardu@d caled duizb laast Badr
immediately, as adilow up letter enquired what had beedone a year late(ibid).
Thiswas met with a statement fronthe church that confirmed that most of the
roofing had been done anché drain dug along the outié¢ of the southwall but
elsewhere thisvas waiting upon lans toresed the interior, as was ta reflagging
(ibid). Indeed, it was not until 1830 that recals show the work started on the
proposed reflagging of the floor, altigh the first relevant recat is an estimate
made byRoger Elleraynd John Newby in828, whch sktes that the west nave,
north and south trasepts TownChoir, Piper Choir, includinrgcesses in both, were
to be included (CAC(K) WPR/89/4/3/5 18832 the architect for this works not
known although Rgge incorrectly writes that E.®@dey was resposible porn in
1823, he waslearlytoo young) (Tarpey, 1897, 174.

A specification for the wrk from 1830 gives remarkable detastating that the flags
are to be less tha two inches thick and to b ourced from Hutton Roof and Banks
BottoY &Wue anda St ¥ Tl OSRX the%dgé & laidsaliohd&ail aridy
jointed in regular courses witRutty & Paste in every joint and all the joints dressed
off even after laid AG(K) WPREB4/3/5 1828-1832). The old flags were to be
checked andaused where gitable, gravestones were tbe relaid, andthe gound
was to be levelled, evidently with inopted soil where necessary (a quantity of 685
carts of soil wagiiven in the edrer estimde; ibid). The esuting work by Michael
Richardson and ®ege Riley cst over £150 but also includerepairs to ateastone

of the pillars (bid). A subsequent rexpt from 1831 from David Bayliss was also
received for work il K S Wf dzQ& S NuRINE & e picch, ard for flags for
the pulpit (bid). Shortly aftewards other repairs were aiscarried out o the
Harrigton Monument, with John Newby and DdvBailey paid for cleaning and
repairing it and for stone, whe John Newby waalso paidfor cleaning arkesin the
church, and money was spent dhe organ gdéry stairs (CAC(K) WPR/8%B4Y
18351969). Not everyore was happy with these renovations James Stockdale,
writing to TheTimessome 35 years later, condeed the work doe in the 180s to
the Harrhgton Monument and the original font, whic g suBjet¢éd! anew to the
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Y a2y Qlaandfiskiénd into its present shape, and (oh, the Vandalisra!)
modern date¢ 1833 ¢ cut in large letters upon@ 6 / ! DHA/4/251/6 3860
1870s).

e

|

Fig3: view of churd before external rendewas remoed, ¢.1840 (@rtmel Priory
collection)

The programme ofmprovementscontinued between 1837 ah1841, initially with

repairsto the guttering on the east side of the bl i NJ y & S LJG BofsiokK Sy (G K S
the souh side ¢ the Nave or West EfY ¢ A (i K workfclrried2o®it byiRégser

Elleray (CAC(K) WPR/83/8 1837-1844). The receipts give a&ny detailed list of

themateh | f & dza SR Ay Of dzRAY F 2MNG SIRKE HdzO S L yRAIQ]
of Red deal = & K ALOI S Y SlyDiay atFGbmiston¥choosin outQindicates the

source of the slate while isial® clea that this work extendedo the include the

LJ2 NI KA New Rak @ate for the Main Entrafze | GAR repHiring at the East
EntranceQibid). The expene of such repairs wadearly an issuehowever, and the

RevThomas Remington stated in 1B4hall asdbmplaints have been mads the

expense of keeping thehurch in repair, | have for your satisfactiarawn out a
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statement ofthe ordinary expnses, with you will oblige m by showing to angne

who may be inghed to think we are not savings we ough to beQ o6/ !/ 0YDU
WPR/89/48/8 183%1844). Nevertheless,important repairs to the roof were

continued wnder the supervision of ReRemington throd K {pria@ple Wf strict

economy in the manageent ofthe Church Rat€s 42 G KIF G 0 866dh&ESY wmynp
roofs of the north aisle ofite nave, the eastern half ovéhe south transept, the

Piper Choir and Vestr the north transept, thesouth aisle ofthe chanel (the Town

Choir) anl the nave were (irthat oNJR S NJXe-sldtef] in a Whost substantialna
durablemanneQ o6/ ! / 0 Y 0 /12 UBRBKI$7K N K H

During this riod, in 1850, the old plaster was also reradythe walls having been
c2 I (i WitR anYétraordinary thickness of whitwash from top to bttom and from
endtoen® I yR (KS3I yagie ceiR® Wds &lsoyréhoveddm the
crossingl Yy Rhe fPesent one of Timber wagsut up from a design gratwusly
furnished by the lat&eorge WebsteEsquireof Eller How, arakectQibid). In places,
beneath the oldplaster, the walls were foundotbe of rubble construction and so
new plaster was added to conceal this, it beingetbby one contemporary thaih
some parts of the wadlthe squared sihes weregound to have bee removed, and
replaced withrubble-g 2 NJhiX was especially the casetire southtransept, where
there hadbeen ancient alterations and buildings, tracédsaich are visible outside
the walls. The nave and igssles were fond to beof such rough rudle workmanship
as not to adnti of being minted or the surface dressedtemnally, they were
therefore plasteed in a manner as little incongruous as possitité the better built
partsof the interioQ 6 WNHAS wmy

The apgarance 6 the church in the rid 19" century is recordd in variousprints,
an early photographpaintings andengravings anan a plan ofthe layout prior to
the restoration under E.®aley. The ealiest knowninterior view (apart from the
17" century Harington tomb drawing) dates from 1814,which shows thel7"
century plaster ceilingglasteed navewalls scored to resemble ashland 17th and
18" certury fittings
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Fig4: watercolour of nave from the vg8& by W.Linden, 1814 (Cartni®lory
collection)

2.19 Paley and Austin Resration
The death of he Rev Remington in 189dd to a pause in renation, which was

renewed in 1858 when the Chancelas e-roofS R |th¢ Riterir plaster ciing,
which had become dangerously decayed, was taken down, andtithber Roof
thoroughly repaied; the walls, lars, and arches wergeaned from whitewashgnd
a very striking feature of the Church which hbden blockel up and almost

obliterated, namely the Tribrium, was opened and completely restdied 6/ ! / o .

WPRB9/4/2/12 18731957). The resuts of this work are recorded in the early
photograph below which alsoshowsthe box pewsand organ over the chante
screen bdore removal.
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Fig5: the naveand crossingn a photograph of c180, from the west (Cartmeé¥iory
collection)

In the late 1850s,the 17" century plaster ceiligin the Town Choiwasalsoin poor
condition; this was removed and replaak with a tmber ceiling, designedby EG.
Paley The Town Choir & alsae-roofed and the wallswvere stripped of vhitewash

(ibid).
By 1863 a considerable donatioof money andfurther fundraisingled to a new

round of restoration also by Paley,which wasrecorded in detail inthe Hubbersty
publication of 1873with significant elements including the restoration thie walls
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and roofs of the nave ad side aisles, # removal of theWumbous gallerie® | y R
new seating, the restoration of the south porch including the additiom@i cak
doors, glazing the weswindow, and the erection of a new pulpit, reading deskian
font, the latli S INWin® ben rendered necessa by the unforunate circumstance

that the ancient Font of the Church had been so altered and spoiled many years ag
by some unskilled hand, as toty to have lots its original for@@ o/ ! / o.
WPR/89/4/2/1218731957).In addition, thepaving in the cent of the churchand

south transept was rdaid with concrete used under some of the seatiagd new
flooring laid in the sanctwary with encaustic tilesind limestone Repairswere made

to several windowsa new organand clock was installedn the Town Chio (organ

built by Jardne), andnew heating stoves{roviding for the warming of the Church

by means of two of théargest si SR D dzNJ/ S & onjuicto@ Bith ¥he Hoy O
water apparatus put up by Mr Rengiton in 853Qibid). All of these alterationsost

over £3,500. Around the same time a sedas of measureddrawings were made of

the church, includingnternal elevations andongitudinal sections part of the John
hQDI dzy i {1 S 2QBACK) WRRBY4/&/ 8)f A phasing @n was first
producedin the 1870s for this study.

o Prod A Joord

Fig6: planof proposedseaing, Austin & Paley]l863(CAC(K) WPR/89/4/310
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Numerous original dcumerts relating tothe Paley restoratiomxist, including a plan

for reseating the chrch (CAC(K) WPB®/4/310 1863), whi&k & K2 g a gile Wil NBS
st2 @' S Ohe Aoyth aind south side of theawe predatng those mentionedn 1892,

(see below), the faculty ttake down the galleries (CAC(K) WPR/89/4/2/3 1864) and

an associated plan (CAC(K) W8BR1/6/2 1864) aml a geneal plan ofthe church

showirg the position d the grave slabs (CAQ(WPR/89/4/6/3 1867). Much of this

work was almost undone when a fire brokeit in the nave in early January 1892, as
described in a newspaper article at the tim&h&west end fathe chuch is warned

by two large @zNXB g/ dtdved,one located on the ntmern side, the beautiful

memorial to Lod Frederick Cavendish being to tleam the other on the southern

side with the font between. It was from the latter thige arose. Theteve pipeenters

the wall and traverses a casiderabé distance through itni a pretty well upright

direction, whenticomes under the wall plate and &athe smole passing through a

small chimney immediately behind the battlements. Tagsspge under thieads isof

a dead ével, and it wasere tre fire boke out, catching thepars of pitchpine which

overhang the walplateQ 06 b S g a LJ- LIS NJ Arcdielil®"yahuary ¥892%. S a (1 NEB
Fortunately, the fire was noticed quickly, the alarm egisand it was pubut with

minimal danage sustained.

A leanto addition was builtbbetweenthe west buttressesspart of the Paleywork;
the north part west of the arth aisle is shown on the 1854 plan in Ffolippendix
2) and the whole additia this is shown on the Ofap surveyal in 1889 and on
several late 19 century viewslt is referred toas‘Hew stores athe west endof the
naveQdn a contemporary newspaper accouait the inaugural servic@Vestnorland
Gazette28 Sep 867). Thelow doorwayat the westend of the navevas uncovered
duringthe 18%0srestoration phase(Hubbersty, 183, 8.

2.1.10 20" century
Thereis less recorded information for this ped. In 1925 ad 1930 Austin and Paley

were commissioned to cayr out repairs ad pointing of inernal walls and other
minor work, apparetly in connection wih work being carriedout by the stained
glass manufacturers Shrigley and Hunt, who were also based in Lancaster
(Brandwood 2012, 250 and 2b2A new reredos high altar and othe sancuary
fittings wereinstalled in 1933the giftsand namesof donorsrecorded on a panel on

the rea of the reredos The reredos was made by the Warhamuf®l, in 1932
(Jenkins, 2004, 95)n 1934, a facultyvas granted for electric lighting (the church
had been lit by oil lamps). bhe late 1950s furtherepairswere made to the roof of

the chancel (CAC(K) WPR/89/4/3/12788.957) This was irpart funded by the
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Holker Esate as a result 6lands conveyeé to them in 1796, which carried with them
the responsibility of the repair ofhé chance&l This chage was emently
compounded in 1956 after considerable discussionhef amountthat was due at
which time it wa noted (i K ITHis liabity for chancekepair is not an unusual one.
Hundreds were compounded when an Act extinguisheal tithe in 1936; and
relatively fewremain. The unusual thing in the case of Cartmelasttte lability had
for so long been forgben onboth sdeibid). In 1964 thestonework andleadin
the east window wasepaired byglazierDennis Kng and masa John Rawsorwith
architectAlan Red (recorded in a painted panel on the window)

Fig7: workon east window in 1964 recorded dretglass

Details of sbbsequent faculties (held in the vestry archiverord works carried out
to the fabric between 19¥ and 2017 (see

Table2 below).One of the most dostantial and mae recent changes, completad
2018, was the remova of fixed seating within the nave, along with the timber
platforms. As part of the same -mgdering (byDominic Robes of Fancis Rberts
Architects)the Paley fat was relocated fromhe westend of the rave to the south
aisle and the earlier font wasreinstated in the centre of the nave. This opened up a
large nave space, much as it was prior to the 128" century, as defcted in early
images of e interior.
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